
"I Don't Care If You Scam Us": How a Chase Bank Teller's 
Text Message Revealed A $850 Check Fraud Scheme

 
Inside a Chase Bank branch in Northern California's Deer Valley, Franchesca Calagui 
worked as a part-time teller, processing routine transactions and greeting customers with a 
smile. But federal prosecutors say her text message to an alleged co-conspirator revealed a 
darker side to her banking duties: "I definitely don't wanna scam with chase since you work 
there," wrote her conspirator. Calagui's alleged response: "I do not care if u scam us lmao."  

That casual text message would later emerge as a crucial piece of evidence in what 
authorities describe as an elaborate scheme to defraud Chase Bank of nearly $1 million 
through forged U.S. Treasury checks.  

 

The Fraud Duo 



According to an indictment filed last month in the Northern District of California, Calagui 
allegedly worked in concert with Dondre Gray from May 2022 through March 2023, 
exploiting her position to subvert the bank's check cashing policies. The scheme targeted 
U.S. Treasury checks. 

Gray allegedly recruited runners - preferably female, prosecutors say, because they 
commanded smaller cuts of the proceeds - to cash forged Treasury checks with Calagui. 
"My bank accounts show I bring in so much more than I make at footlocker," Gray allegedly 
texted Calagui in October 2022, highlighting how lucrative the scheme was. 

The Final Payday Rush Before Maternity Leave 
But it was Calagui's apparent rush for one final payday that may have helped expose the 
scheme. In the two weeks before her planned maternity leave in March 2023, she 
processed more than $190,000 in Treasury checks - over 25% of the scheme's total during 
its 10-month run. "Yes the more money the more comfortable I can feel," she texted Gray. 
"That's why I gotta come in and make as much as I can." 

The case highlights a persistent vulnerability in check fraud: the human element and the 
tellers that work at banks. While banks invest millions in sophisticated fraud detection 
systems, a single compromised bank teller can subvert those systems. 

According to the indictment, Calagui allegedly failed to verify valid forms of identification, 
signatures, or required Chase accounts with suYicient funds - basic checks designed to 
prevent exactly this type of fraud. 

 

Read the Indictment 
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filed
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
ygr

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

V.

FRANCHESCA CALAGUl and

DONDRE GRAY,

Defendants.

OAKLAND DIVISION

) CASE NO.

)
) VIOLATIONS:

CR 25 0025

18 U.S.C. § 1349 - Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud
18 U.S.C. § 1344(1), (2) - Bank Fraud
18 U.S.C. § 510(bl - Receipt of U.S. Treasury Check
with Forged Endorsement or Signature
18 U.S.C. § 2 - Aiding and Abetting
18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c)-
Forfeiture Allegation

OAKLAND VENUE

_)

INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury charges:

Introductory Allegations

At all times relevant to this Indictment:

1. Defendant FRANCHESCA CALAGUl resided in the in the Northern District of

California and was a Part-Time Associate Banker at JP Morgan Chase Bank ("Chase Bank") in the

Northern District of California on or about May 12, 2022 through on or about March 30, 2023.

2. Defendant DONDRE GRAY resided in the in the Northern District of California on or

about May 12, 2022 through on or about March 30, 2023.

INDICTMENT
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3. JP Morgan Chase Bank ("Chase Bank") is a financial institution, as that term is defined

in Title 18 U.S.C. § 20 and 31 U.S.C. § 5312(a)(2), the deposits of which were insured by the Federal

Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC").

Object of the Conspiracy and Scheme to Commit Bank Fraud

4. On or about May 12, 2022, through on or about March 30, 2023, in the Northern District

of California, the defendants unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly devised a scheme and artifice to

commit bank fraud by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, promises, and

omissions as more particularly set forth herein.

5. CALAGUl and GRAY conspired together to obtain stolen U.S. Treasury checks, to

recruit others to falsely make or forge endorsements or signatures on those stolen U.S. Treasury checks

and give them to Chase Bank teller CALAGUl to cash and obtain money for the defendants own

personal enrichment.

6. It was part of the scheme that CALAGUl and GRAY exploited CALAGUl's position and

knowledge as a Chase Bank teller to subvert the bank's check cashing policy to knowingly cash forged

U.S. Treasury checks for non-Chase Bank customers.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracv

7. CALAGUl, GRAY, and others unknown to the Grand Jury, used various means and

methods to accomplish this scheme, including, but not limited to:

a. Coordinating via text message, phone, and other means to discuss the details and

execution of the scheme.

b. Obtaining stolen checks of individuals residing in, among other places, the Southern

and Central Districts of California, who were not previously known to have lived in

the Northern District of California or previously known to the defendants.

c. Recruiting and paying unknown coconspirators a fee to fraudulently sign and cash the

stolen U.S. Treasury checks at Chase Bank's Deer Valley Branch location and with

bank teller CALAGUL

d. CALAGUl knowingly cashing U.S. Treasury checks for non-Chase Bank customers

that did not comply with Chase Bank's check cashing policy, including but not

INDICTMENT 2
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limited to cashing U.S. Treasury checks for non-Chase Bank customers, not verifying

valid forms of identification, signatures, or required Chase accounts with sufficient

funds.

e. Defendants keeping or depositing the proceeds in their respective personal Chase

bank accounts for their own personal enrichment.

Overt Acts in Furtherance of the Constiiracv

8. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to affect the objects of the conspiracy, the following

overt acts, among others, were committed in the Northern District of Califomia:

a. On or about October 4,2022, GRAY and CALAGUl had a conversation via text

messaging that details the ongoing conspiracy. Initially in the conversation, GRAY

states to CALAGUl, "1 definitely don't wanna scam with chase since you work

there." CALAGUl responds "I do not care if u scam us Imao". GRAY then elaborates

on how he conducts the Treasury Check conspiracy scheme with runners. An illegal

check runner is a person who gets paid to enter a bank with a fraudulent check, cash

it, and return the proceeds to the person who employed the runner. GRAY

specifically states that he uses female runners because he only needs to pay them a

smaller cut, while male runners demand a higher portion of the proceeds.

b. On or about October 17, 2022, in violation of Chase Bank check cashing policy for

non-Chase Bank customers, CALAGUl knowingly cashed two U.S. Treasury Checks

written to two different payees but negotiated by the same customer. Additionally, the

identification numbers that CALAGUl input did not match the payees listed.

c. On or about May 12, 2022, through on or about March 30, 2023, as a Chase Bank

teller, CALAGUl accepted and cashed at least 339 forged checks totaling

approximately $857,000.

d. GRAY opens two Chase bank accounts during the scheme, one on June 12, 2022

(account ending in 1612), and another on September 18, 2022 (account ending in

9119).

e. During the conspiracy, on or about May 12, 2022, through on or about March 30,

INDICTMENT 3
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2023, the defendants deposited approximately $71,000 of cash deposits from the

scheme to GRAY's Chase Bank accounts ending in 1612 and 9119.

f. On October 13, 2022, in a text message between GRAY and CALAGUI, GRAY tells

CALAGUl, "My bank accounts show 1 bring in so much more than 1 make at

footlocker."

g. During the conspiracy, CALAGUl deposited approximately $15,000 of cash deposits

from the scheme into her Chase Bank account ending in 6149 (opened in 2020).

h. On March 15, 2023 in text messages that were sent two weeks before CALAGUl

went on maternity leave on March 30, 2023, CALAGUl tells GRAY, "Yes the more

money the more comfortable I can feel. That's why 1 gotta come in and make as

much as 1 can."

i. In the last two weeks of the scheme, March 15 — 30, 2023, just before going on

maternity leave, CALAGUl cashed more than $190,000 in Treasury checks, more

than 25% of the estimated total obtained from the approximately 10-month scheme.

COUNT ONE: (18 U.S.C. § 1349 - Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud)

9. Paragraphs 1 through 8 of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated as if fully set

forth here.

10. On or about May 12, 2022, through on or about March 30, 2023, in the Northern District

of California, the defendants,

FRANCHESCA CALAGUl and

DONDRE GRAY

and others unknown to the Grand Jury, did knowingly conspire to devise and intend to devise a scheme

and artifice to defraud Chase Bank, a financial institution, as to a material matter, and to obtain money

and property under the custody and control of Chase Bank by means of materially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representations, and promises, and by the concealment of material facts,, in violation of Title

18 U.S.C. §§ 1344(0,(2) and 2.

All in violation of Title 18 U.S.C. § 1349.

COUNTS TWO THROUGH SIX: (18 U.S.C. §§ 1344(1), (2) - Bank Fraud; and
18 U.S.C. § 2 - Aiding and Abetting)

INDICTMENT 4
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11. Paragraphs 1 through 8 of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated as if fully set

forth here.

12. On or about May 12, 2022, through on or about March 30, 2023, in the Northern District

of California, the defendants,

FRANCHESCA CALAGUl and

DONDRE GRAY

and others unknown to the Grand Jury, aiding and abetting one another, did knowingly and with the

intent to defraud, devise and execute, and attempt to execute, a material scheme and artifice to defraud

Chase Bank as to a material matter, and to obtain money and property under the custody and control of

Chase Bank by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises and by

the concealment of material facts.

Execution of the Scheme

13. On or about the dates set forth in the counts below, in the Northern District of California,

for the purpose of executing the scheme and artifice referred to above, and attempting to do so, the

defendants conducted or caused to be conducted the following financial transactions, among others;

COUNT Check Type Issue Date Amount Transacted Date Transacted Amount

TWO US Treasury 10/19/2022 $4,872.00 10/26/2022 $ 4,872.00

TFIREE US Treasury 11/04/2022 $4,912.10 12/12/2022 $4,912.10

FOUR US Treasury 11/04/2022 $4,982.81 12/13/2022 $4,982.81

FIVE US Treasury 03/17/2023 $4,893.00 03/29/2023 $ 4,893.00

SIX US Treasury 03/17/2023 $4,741.00 03/29/2023 $4,741.00

All in violation of Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 1344(1), (2) and 2.

COUNTS SEVEN THROUGH ELEVEN: (18 U.S.C. § 510(b) - Receipt of U.S. Treasury Check with
Forged Endorsement or Signature)

14. Paragraphs 1 through 8 of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated as if fully set

forth here.

INDICTMENT 5
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15. On or about May 12, 2022, through on or about March 30, 2023, in the Northern District

of California, defendant,

FRANCHESCA CALAGUl

did unlawfully and with knowledge that the U.S. Treasury check was stolen or bore a falsely made or

forged endorsement or signature, bought, sold, exchanged, reeeived, delivered, retained, or concealed

any such Treasury cheek of the United States, as described below for each count:

COUNT Check Type Issue Date Amount Transacted Date Transacted Amount

SEVEN US Treasury 10/19/2022 $4,872.00 10/26/2022 $ 4,872.00

EIGHT US Treasury 11/04/2022 $4,912.10 12/12/2022 $4,912.10

NINE US Treasury 11/04/2022 $4,982.81 12/13/2022 $4,982.81

TEN US Treasury 03/17/2023 $4,893.00 03/29/2023 $ 4,893.00

ELEVEN US Treasury 03/17/2023 $4,741.00 03/29/2023 $4,741.00

All in violation of Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 510(b)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION: (18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c))

16. Paragraphs 1 through 15 of this Indictment, including all subparts, are re-alleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth here for the purpose of alleging forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United

States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

17. Upon conviction for any of the offenses set forth in this Indictment, the defendants,

FRANCHESCA CALAGUl and

DONDRE GRAY

shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981 (a)(1)(C) and

Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), all property, real or personal, constituting, or derived

from proceeds the defendant obtained directly and indirectly, as the result of those violations, including

but not limited to money and property taken by the defendants, and/or a forfeiture money judgment.

18. If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the defendant:

a. cannot be located upon exercise of due diligence;

INDICTMENT 6
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b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without

difficulty,

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to Title 21,

United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

19. All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981 (a)(1)(C), Title 28, United States

Code, Section 2461(c), and Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2.

DATED: January 30, 2025 A TRUE BILL.

^OREPERSON

ISMAIL J. RAMSEY

United States Attorney

/s/ Cynthia Johnson

CYNTHIA JOHNSON

Special Assistant United States Attorney

INDICTMENT
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